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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO
Judge R. Brooke Jackson
Civil Action No. 16cv-00651RBJ
SERENA CAMPBELL,
Plaintiff,

V.

CITY OF NORTHGLENN, COLORADO, and
ADAMS COUNTY, COLORADO,

Defendats.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS

This matter comes before the Court on defendaastmsCounty’s motion to dismiss, or,
in the alternative, for summary judgment; the CitNofthglenn’ssimilar motion and theCity
of Northglenn’s motion regarding relocation of the dog at issue in this case. ECE2ANBS,
62. The motions to dismiss are granted, and the mtioglocatehe dog is moot.

BACKGROUND

In 2012 Serena Campbell began living with her boyfriend, Richard Jackson, and his dog,
a male American Staffordshire Terrier nanfaetblf (later renamed Baby)in August 2014 Ms.
Campbell moved out of the residence, but shecstitie by to take care of Adolf. A month later,
on September 11, 2014, Adolf bit a mail carrier. Northglenn police officers responded to the
scene and told Ms. Campbell that Mr. Jackson may be receiving a summons betais®gf

attack. A week later, Northglenn Police Department filed an application add\atffior an

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/colorado/codce/1:2016cv00651/161844/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/colorado/codce/1:2016cv00651/161844/63/
https://dockets.justia.com/

arrest warrant for Mr. Jackson fonlawful ownership of a dangerous dog. Shortly thereafter,
Mr. Jackson and Ms. Campbell were arrested on unrelated charges, and Adolf wasplaced i
protective custody at the Adams County Animal Shelter. The shelter refuséshteradolf.

In Februay 2015 Ms. Campbell was notified that a hearing had been scheduled regarding
the disposition of Adolf. At the hearing, the Northglenn Municipal Court heard testifreon
police officers and Ms. Campbell, and it ordered that Adolf be destroyed. Ms. €ampb
appealed to the Adams County District Court, which affirmed the order. Ms. Cartiavell
petitioned the Colorado Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari, but it denied thismpetit April
18, 2016.

A few weeksprior, on March 25, 2016, Ms. Camplbikd this civil action. Her First
Amended Complaint raises three claims for religf:violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 198fhinst the City of Northglernvecause the city performed
an illegal traffic stomnd detaied her without probable cause, and subsequently acted directly
“through its Police Department, City Attorney’s Office and/or Municipal €bor indirectly by
“approv[ing] or ratif[ying] the unlawful deliberate disposition of property belogdo [Ms.
Campbell],” i.e., Adolf, “without due process”; (2) violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth
Amendments under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 198fhinstAdams County because the county, “through its
Animal Shelter” or through “approv|al] or ratifi[cation],” unreasonably seizddlPand failed
to provide due process; and (3) declaratory relief that the Northglenn Municipal @udsopr
providing authority for Adolf's disposition violated the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendmertts, tha

Northglenn Municipal Court had no jurisdiction to hold a disposition hearing to determine



Adolf's fate,and that Adolf shoulimmediatelybereleased from the Adams County Shelter’'s
custody. ECF No. 51 at 26-32.

Adams County has filed a motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, a motion for symmar
judgment. ECF No. 52. The City of Northglenn has filed a similar motion. ECF No. 53. The
motions have been fully briefed. ECF Nos. 55, 56, 57, 58. Northglenn has also filed an
unopposed motion for approval to relocate Adolf to an animal sanctuary pending the disposition
of this case. ECF No. 62.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

To survive a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the complaint must contain “enough facts to
state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fadg€ll Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570
(2007). While the Court must accept the well-pleaded allegations of the comgplaunt and
construe them in the light most favorable to the plair@ffbbins v. Wilkie300 F.3d 1208, 1210
(10th Cir. 2002), purely conclusory allegations are not entitled to be presumefistiamft v.

Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 681 (2009). However, so long as the plaintiff offers sufficient factual
allegations such that the right to relief is raised above the speculative keheals met the
threshold pleading standar&eeTwombly 550 U.S. at 556. “The court’s function on a Rule
12(b)(6) motion is not to weigh potential evidence that the parties might presealt autrio
assess whether the plaintiff's complaint alone is legally sufficient t® atelaim for which relief
may be granted.’Miller v. Glanz 948 F.2d 1562, 1565 (10th Cir. 1991).

The Court may grant summary judgment if “there is no genuine dispute asrtatamal
fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of |&ed. R. Civ. P. 56(a)The

moving party has the burden to show that there is an absence of evidence to support the



nonmoving partys case.Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 325 (1986). The nonmoving
party must “designate specific facts showing thate is a genuine issue for triald. at 324. A
fact is material “if under the substantive law it is essential to the proper dispasitioe claim.”
Adler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Incl144 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998). material fact is genuini¢
“the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmotyrig par
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986).he Court will examine the factual
record and make reasonable inferences in the light most féeooaihe party opposing
summary judgmentConcrete Works of Colo., Inc. v. City & Cnty. of Dena$ F.3d 1513,
1517 (10th Cir. 1994).
ANALYSIS

Defendantxontend that Ms. Campbell has not correctly named defendant the Board of
County Commissioners of Adams County (“BOCC”); Ms. Campbell’s allegati@ns ar
insufficient to state a claim against BOCC; Ms. Campb#bsell claim based on a final
policymaker fails to state a claim against BOCC;RloekerFeldmandoctrine deprives this
Court of subject mattgurisdiction to hear a challenge to the Northglenn Municipal Court’s
order; and Ms. Campbell cannot establish a Fourth Amendment violation because she did not
own Adolf when he was seized. ECF Nos. 52, 53. Although I agree that BOCC was not
correctly naned as a defendant under Colorado Revised Statutes § Bib1Lwill focusmy
discussion on the infirmities in Ms. Campbell’s complaint that cannot be corrgctedHer

amendment.



A. Unreasonable Seizure: Traffic Stop

Ms. Campbell alleges that “the City of Northglenn . . . performed an illeght tstbp of
[her], and order [sic] her out of her vehicle at gunpoint, and detain [sic] her all witlodatybe
cause.” ECF No. 51 at 1 101. But cities do not perform traffic stops; police otfwends.
Campbell hashusfailed to plead a plausible claim for reli€deeTwombly 550 U.S. at 570.

Even if Ms. Campbell properly attributed her traffic stop to a Northglenn policeioff
“a local government may not be sued under 8 1983 for an injury inflicted solely by isyeepl
or agents.”"Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Sery4l36 U.S. 658, 694 (1978). Ms. Campbell’s Fourth
Amendment claim concerning her traffic stop and detention thenefose be dismissed.

B. Unreasonable SeizureAdolf.

Ms. Campbell also claims that Adams County unreasonably seized Adolf. The Fourth
Amendment provides that the “right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers
and effects, againsinreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. Const.
amend. IV “A ‘seizure of property occurs when there is some meaninigiigrference with an
individual's possessory interests in that propértynited States v. Jacobset66 U.S. 109, 113
(1984). “Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights which, like some other constitutiona
rights, may not be vicariously assertetRakas v. lllinois439 U.S. 128, 133-34 (1978) (quoting
Brown v. United Stategl11 U.S. 223, 230 (1973)).

The Court takes judicial notice of the Northglenn Municipal Court proceedingsh whic
are a matter of public recor@&eeUnited States v. Ahidley86 F.3d 1184, 1192 n.5 (10th Cir.
2007). Atthe February 25, 2015 hearing, Ms. Campbell said unequivdaifdolf “wasn’t

my dog.” ECF No. 27-3 at 109:21. Instead, Ms. Campbell indicated that she was making an



appearance “representing Mr. Jacksohl. at 4:1721. Shensistedthat shevould “not pay(]

the $953” forthe county’sholding Adolf “because [she] didn’t have possession of the diafy.”

at 109:15-18. She said she was “willing to take possession of the dog, but [she was] not paying
for when he was owned by [Mr. Jacksonld. at 109:18-20And she reiteratethatjust

because shemetimes took care of Adolf “doesn’t mean that [she] own[ed] the didig &t

109:21-25. The judge found that although Ms. Campbell would not be charged for Adolf’s prior
care, she qualified as an owner of the dog as of thatddte/ould need to payrfédolf's care

going forward if she appealed his ordédt. at 108:6-19, 110:12-16, 111:5-11.

Ms. Campbell may not change her story and now claim that she owned Adolf when he
was seized in 2014. The doctrine of judicial estoppel bars a litigant ttelibérately changing
positions according to the exigencies of the momeBtadford v. Wiggins516 F.3d 1189, 1194
(10th Cir. 2008) (quotinglew Hampshire v. Main®32 U.S. 742, 750 (2001)That doctrine
applies here because Ms. Campbell’s currentiposig clearly inconsistent with her position in
the Northglenn Municipal Court, she persuaded that court not to charge her for Adolf’s prior
care, and she would gain an unfair advantage if she were not estdgped.

Because Ms. Campbell disclaimed owhgosof Adolf when he was seized, she has no
Fourth Amendment claim as to his seizugee Siebert v. Severii2b6 F.3d 648, 655 (7th Cir.
2001) Herremaining Fourth Amendment clasrarethus dismissed.

C. Denial of Due Processand Declaratory Judgment

Last, Ms. Campbell claims thdefendanthiave takerAdolf without providing due
process and that the Court should issue a declaratory judgment finding that Adwéhas

unlawfully ordered destroyed. This Court has no such power. The Northglenn Municipal Court



ruled that Adolf was a vicious dog and ordered that Adolfbe released and instead be
euthanized. ECF No. 27-3 at 93-108. For Ms. Campbell to succeed on her dueghaoness
the Court would have to find that the Northglenn Municipal Court and Colorado appellate
process provided Ms. Campbell constitutionally inadequate process before ehisring
destruction order.

Under theRookerFeldmandoctrine this Court has no jurisdiction to hear claims that
amount to appeals of state court judgmeisxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. Coipi4
U.S. 280, 284 (2005)This doctrine precludes Ms. Campbell’s claims because “an element of
the clainjs] is that the [state courjflidgment was wrongful Campbell v. Spence682 F.3d
1278, 1284 (10th Cir. 2012). | could not hold that Ms. Campbell has been unlawfully deprived
of Adolf, that the Northglenn Municipal Code or Municipal Court violated Ms. Canipbell
constitutional rights, that Northglenn Municipal Court had no jurisdiction over Adolf, or that
Adolf must be released without reviewing and rejecting the state courtatecisi

Ms. Campbell’s claims are not saved by the factshatfiled this lawsuia few weeks
before the Colorado Supreme Court denied her petition for certiorari. As other judgss in thi
District have noted, there is “ambiguous precedent from the Tenth Circuit on wiRethlesr
Feldmanapplies if a suit is filegust beforé state court appeals are exhaustédney v. Kejl
No. 13CV-03386CMA-MJW, 2014 WL 4800275, at *4 (D. Colo. Sept. 26, 2014ill not
reiterate my colleagues’ analysisTinneyandMcDonald v. J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.XKo.
12-CV-02749-MSK, 2014 WL 334813 (D. Colo. Jan. 30, 2014). Suffice to say, Ms. Campbell
cannot challenge the Northglenn Municipal Court’s decisidederaldistrict court just because

she protectively filed this suit shortly before learning that the Colorado Sepenrt denied



her apeal. Indeed, defendants were not servediagidcounsel did not enter an appearance
until weeks after the Colorado Supreme Court acted on Ms. Campbell’'s pe8g8eBCF Nos.
16, 17, 18, 23, 24This is hardly an instance of parallel state and tditigation. Under these
circumstances, the U.S. Supreme Court is tbpgr forum for challenging thisate court
decision. See28 U.S.C. § 1253).
ORDER

1. Defendant Adams County’s motion to dismiss [ECF No. 52] and defendant City of
Northglenn’s motion to dismiss [ECF No. 53] are GRANTHBRaintiffS complaint isdismissed
with prejudice.

2. Defendant City of Northglenn’s Unopposed Motion Re: Relocation of Dog That Is the
Subject of Plaintiff's Claim [ECF No. 62] is MOOT.

3. As theprevailing parties, defendants are awarded their reasonable costs pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(1) and D.C.COLO.LCivR 54.1.

DATED this 15th day ofMay, 2017.

BY THE COURT:

Fabsptomn

R. Brooke Jackson
United States District Judge




